IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 77345

MARLO THOMAS

Electronically Filed
Jun 14 2019 02:39 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

WILLIAM GITTERE, et al.,

Respondents.

Appeal from Order Dismissing Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Stefany Miley, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RENE L. VALLADARES
Federal Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No. 11479
JOANNE L. DIAMOND
Nevada State Bar No. 14139C
JOSE A. GERMAN
Nevada State Bar No. 14676C
Assistant Federal Public Defenders
411 E. Bonneville Avenue, Suite 250
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Telephone: (702) 388-6577

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a district court order denying Thomas's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) in a capital case, No. 96C13682-1. The district court mailed its Notice of Entry of Order on October 1, 2018. Thomas timely filed a Notice of Appeal on October 30, 2018. This Court has appellate jurisdiction over this appeal under NRS 34.575, 34.830, 177.015(1)(b) & 177.015(3).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is retained by the Supreme Court because it is a capital case. Nev. R. App. P. 17(a)(1).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Thomas's case arises out of crimes committed at the Lone Star Steakhouse in Las Vegas on April 15, 1996. Carl Dixon and Matthew Gianakis were killed. On June 18, 1997, Thomas was convicted in the Eighth Judicial District Court of two counts of first-degree murder with use of a deadly weapon, robbery with use of a deadly weapon,

¹ 35AA8600-8610.

² 35AA8611-8616.

conspiracy to commit murder and/or robbery, first-degree kidnapping with use of a deadly weapon, and burglary while in possession of a firearm.³

The jury found all six aggravators alleged by the State: (1) prior conviction for a violent felony (1990 attempted robbery when Thomas was seventeen years old); (2) prior conviction for a violent felony (1996 battery with substantial bodily harm); (3) murder committed in commission of a burglary; (4) murder committed in commission of a robbery; (5) murder committed to avoid or prevent lawful arrest; and (6) more than one conviction of murder. The jury found no mitigating circumstances and, on June 25, 1997, Thomas was sentenced to death. This Court affirmed on November 25, 1998, in case No. 31019, and issued its remittitur on November 4, 1999.

³ 24AA5964-5970.

⁴ 24AA5973-5981.

⁵ 24AA5971-5981.

⁶ 24AA5982-5983.

On January 6, 2000, Thomas filed a pro per petition for writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction). A counseled supplement was filed by David Schieck on July 16, 2001. The district court held evidentiary hearings on January 22, 2002, and March 15, 2002; the only witnesses were Thomas's trial counsel. On September 6, 2002, the district court denied Thomas's petition.

On February 10, 2004, in Case No. 40248, this Court affirmed Thomas's convictions but found trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to a misleading jury instruction concerning Thomas's eligibility for release if sentenced to life without parole. This Court reversed and remanded to the district court for a new penalty trial.¹¹

On remand, the State alleged four aggravating circumstances: (1)
Thomas's 1990 felony conviction; (2) Thomas's 1996 felony conviction;
(3) murder committed to avoid or prevent lawful arrest; and (4) more

⁷ 5AA1057-1064.

⁸ 5AA1065-1142.

⁹ 2AA351-370 and 2AA371-382.

¹⁰ 5AA1143-1158.

¹¹ 6AA1267-1284.

than one offense of murder. The jury found all four. ¹² The jury found the following mitigating circumstances: (1) Thomas accepted responsibility for the crime; (2) Thomas co-operated but diverted the truth; (3) Thomas demonstrated remorse; (4) Thomas counseled others against criminal acts; (5) Thomas suffered both learning and emotional disabilities; (6) Thomas found religion; and (7) father's denial of Thomas. ¹³

The jury found the mitigating circumstances did not outweigh the aggravating circumstances and sentenced Thomas to death. ¹⁴ A judgment of conviction was entered on November 28, 2005. ¹⁵ This Court affirmed on December 28, 2006. ¹⁶

On March 6, 2008, Thomas filed a pro per petition for writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction). 17 Counseled supplements were filed by

¹² 6AA1285-1288.

¹³ 26AA6260-61.

¹⁴ 26AA6262, 6267.

¹⁵ 6AA1285-1288.

¹⁶ 6AA1378-1398.

¹⁷ 6AA1417-1428.

Bret Whipple on July 12, 2010, and March 31, 2014. On May 30, 2014, the district court denied Thomas's petition. His Court affirmed on July 22, 2016, and issued remittitur on October 27, 2016.

Thomas filed the current post-conviction petition on October 20, 2017.²¹ Without granting discovery or an evidentiary hearing, the district court entered an order denying Thomas's petition on October 1, 2018.²² This appeal follows.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the district court err in denying Thomas's claim that the penalty-retrial jury was improperly informed of his prior death sentences?
- 2. Did the district court err in finding ineffective assistance of initial state post-conviction counsel could not overcome procedural default of Thomas's penalty-phase retrial claims?

¹⁸ 6AA1429-1498.

¹⁹ 6-7AA1499-1509.

²⁰ 7AA1532-1539, 26AA6274-6276.

²¹ 3-4AA630-885.

²² 35AA8600-8610.

- 3. Did the district court err in finding ineffective assistance of initial state post-conviction counsel could not overcome procedural default of Thomas's guilt-phase claims and in finding this was Thomas's third attempt at post-conviction relief from his guilty verdict?
- 4. Did the district court err in finding Thomas's actual innocence of the death penalty could not overcome the procedural default bars?
- 5. Are the substantive constitutional claims in Thomas's petition meritorious, justifying relief from his convictions and death sentences?

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The district court's application of procedural default rules is reviewed de novo. ²³ This Court will give deference to the district court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous or unsupported by substantial evidence. ²⁴ The district court's legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. ²⁵

²³ Rippo v. State, 134 Nev.__, 423 P.3d 1084, 1093, amended on denial of reh'g; 432 P.3d 167 (2018).

²⁴ Rippo, id.

²⁵ Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., v. Radeki, 134 Nev.__, 426 P.3d 593, 596 (2018).

VI. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

If the individuals in Marlo Thomas's life had fulfilled the roles they were intended to fill, he would not be on death row. The parents who should have nurtured and protected him, the lawyers who were charged with advocating for him, and the jurors who decided his fate all abdicated their responsibilities. Thomas's childhood was horrible. His trials were unfair. And his jurors committed misconduct.

This Court represents Thomas's last chance for the state corrective process to give him the fairness he has otherwise been denied. Fairness dictates granting Thomas's petition or at least remanding for further factual development.

VII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Thomas can demonstrate good cause to overcome any applicable procedural default rules based on the ineffective assistance of initial post-conviction counsel and his actual innocence of the death penalty. Thomas can demonstrate actual prejudice based on the merits of his underlying claims. Individuals on Thomas's juries were biased against him, exposed to prejudicial extraneous information, and violated the trial court's instructions. Counsel at his original trial were ineffective

for, among other things, failing to investigate and present compelling evidence supporting a first-phase mental state defense. Counsel at his penalty-phase retrial were ineffective for, among other things, failing to investigate and present compelling evidence in mitigation. Trial court errors and prosecutorial misconduct infected Thomas's trials, including improperly excluding an African-American prospective juror from the original trial, and enabling bad acts from Thomas's youth to render him death-eligible and influence the retrial jury's sentence selection.

Individually and cumulatively, these errors rendered Thomas's convictions and death sentences unconstitutional.

VIII. ARGUMENT

A. Thomas was entitled to a hearing on his claim that retrial jurors learned of his prior death sentences (Claim Twenty-Six C).

I don't feel responsible for Marlo's death sentence. As far as I am concerned, that decision had already been made by the previous jury. $_{26}$

²⁶ 28AA6836-3838 at ¶5 (Declaration of penalty-retrial juror, Ceasar Elpidio).

In the instant post-conviction proceedings, five jurors provided declarations stating they learned during the penalty retrial that Thomas had been previously sentenced to death. These jurors then considered this information in reaching their verdict for the death penalty. The parties agree the fact of Thomas's prior death sentences was never disclosed on the record. ²⁷ The jury's consideration of this prejudicial extraneous information violated Thomas's rights under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.

The declarations vary as to whether jurors learned about the prior death sentence from the judge or one of the attorneys. But whether it was the trial judge, a prosecutor, or a defense attorney who told the jurors about Thomas's prior death sentences, the information was extraneous and prejudicial. "An extraneous influence includes . . . consideration by jurors of extrinsic evidence." And the Supreme Court has held "information is deemed 'extraneous' if it derives from a source 'external' to the jury. 'External' matters include . . . information related

²⁷ 35AA8585.

²⁸ Meyer v. State, 119 Nev. 554, 562, 80 P.3d 447, 454 (2003).

specifically to the case the jurors are meant to decide."²⁹ Supreme Court precedent is clear: An external influence affecting a juror's deliberations violates a defendant's right to a fair and impartial jury.³⁰

1. The juror testimony is admissible.

The district court denied this claim without an evidentiary hearing because it ruled the juror declarations were inadmissible. ³¹ The court relied on NRS 50.065(2), prohibiting juror testimony concerning "the effect of anything upon the juror's or any other juror's mind or emotions as influencing the juror to assent or dissent from the verdict . . . or concerning the juror's mental processes in connection therewith." ³² The court also ruled them inadmissible under this Court's opinion in *Echavarria v. State*, applying NRS 50.065(2) to exclude a

²⁹ Warger v. Shauers, 135 S. Ct. 521, 529 (2014) (internal citations omitted).

³⁰ See, e.g., Turner v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 466, 472-73 (1965).

^{31 35}AA8597-98.

³² NRS 50.065(2)(c).

juror's statement that she only voted for the death penalty because she thought the verdict would be overturned on appeal.³³

The district court's reliance on *Echavarria* and NRS 50.065 is misplaced. *Echavarria* did not involve prejudicial extraneous information presented to a jury. And nothing in NRS 50.065 prevents a juror from testifying about extraneous prejudicial information improperly brought to the jury's attention (even if this Court finds inadmissible any evidence of its effect on a juror's mind).

This Court's decision in *Meyer* is more analogous to the situation here. In *Meyer*, this Court held, "Where the misconduct [alleged] involves extrinsic information or contact with the jury, juror affidavits or testimony establishing the fact that the jury received the information or was contacted are permitted."³⁴ Accordingly, the district court should have considered the declarations offered by Thomas and held an evidentiary hearing.

³³ Echavarria v. State, 108 Nev. 734, 741-42, 839 P.2d 589, 594 (1992).

³⁴ Meyer, 119 Nev. at 562, 80 P.3d at 454.

At an evidentiary hearing, Thomas would have called the following jurors who would have testified to the following admissible evidence:

Adele Basye:35

4. After the jury was selected, we were informed by one of the attorneys that the defendant had already been sentenced to death in his 1997 trial. We were also told that he was on death row at the time.

Don McIntosh:36

2. To my understanding, jurors were selected to participate in the re-trying of the defendant's penalty phase. Prior to the beginning of the trial, the judge informed the jurors that the defendant had been convicted of murder and sentenced to death in his previous trial.

///

111

///

 $^{^{35}}$ 16AA3768-3772 at ¶4.

 $^{^{36}}$ 28AA6779-6785 at ¶2.

Philip Adona:37

We

were told that the defendant was fighting the death penalty and had won his appeal and that's why we were there: he had got the death penalty before, he fought it and won, and we were there doing it again.

Ceasar Elpidio:38

3. I knew Marlo had already been sentenced to death by a different jury. Either the judge told us that at the beginning of the trial or the attorneys told us in their opening or closing statements. Our job as jurors was to decide whether or not to affirm the death sentence that the prior jury had given him.

///

///

///

 $^{^{37}}$ 26AA6419-6421 at ¶2.

 $^{^{38}}$ 28AA6836-6838 at ¶3.

Foreperson, Conné Kackzmarek:39

6. The jury was given very specific instructions prior to the trial. We were informed that the defendant had been sentenced to death in his previous trial. As jurors, it was our job to reaffirm the defendant's prior death sentence. Once the jury was given a chance to review evidence, we were supposed to determine whether or not the defendant had been properly sentenced. It was not our job as jurors to decide if the defendant should be put to death.

2. The extraneous information was prejudicial.

The jurors' consideration of Thomas's prior death sentences prejudiced him in multiple ways. It rendered Thomas's death sentences unconstitutional under *Caldwell v. Mississippi*, where the Supreme Court found it "constitutionally impermissible to rest a death sentence on a determination made by a sentencer who has been led to believe that the responsibility for determining the appropriateness of the defendant's death rests elsewhere." And it resulted in a verdict rendered by biased jurors.

 $^{^{39}}$ 28AA6812-6817 at ¶6.

⁴⁰ Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 328-29 (1985).

a. Jurors' consideration of Thomas's prior death sentences violated the Eighth Amendment.

In *Caldwell*, the Supreme Court explained its "Eighth Amendment jurisprudence has taken as a given that capital sentencers would view their task as the serious one of determining whether a specific human being should die at the hands of the State." The Court expressed concern that a juror under the mistaken impression that the responsibility for the sentencing decision rested elsewhere would minimize the importance of their sentencing determination. That is exactly what happened here.

Foreperson Kackzmarek understood, "As jurors, it was our job to reaffirm the defendant's prior death sentence. . . . [W]e were supposed to determine whether or not the defendant had been properly sentenced. It was not our job as jurors to decide if the defendant should be put to death." Juror Elipdio's declaration stated: "Our job as jurors was to decide whether or not to affirm the death sentence that the prior

⁴¹ *Id.* at 329.

⁴² See id. at 333.

⁴³ 28AA6812-6817 at ¶6.

jury had given [Thomas] If we validated the finding of guilt, we were required to affirm the death sentence[.]"⁴⁴ Consequently, Elpidio does not "feel responsible for Marlo's death sentence. As far as I am concerned, that decision had already been made by the previous jury."⁴⁵

b. The extraneous information about Thomas's prior death sentences resulted in juror bias.

Even if the above-quoted portions of the juror declarations are inadmissible, Thomas is still entitled to relief. In *Tinsley v. Borg*, the Ninth Circuit recognized courts have applied implied bias to jurors who are "apprised of such prejudicial information about the defendant" it is "highly unlikely [they could] exercise independent judgment." ⁴⁶ The information about Thomas's prior death sentences is of such a prejudicial nature. The Fourth Circuit has observed, "we are hard pressed to think of anything more damning to an accused than information that a jury had previously convicted him for the crime

 $^{^{44}}$ 28AA6836-6838 at $\P\P3-4$.

⁴⁵ 28AA6836-6838 at ¶5.

⁴⁶ Tinsley v. Borg, 895 F.2d 520, 528 (9th Cir. 1990).

charged."⁴⁷ And in *United States v. Keating*, the Ninth Circuit remanded for a new trial after finding an unacceptably high probability Keating's federal trial verdict was based in part on extrinsic evidence that he had been previously convicted in state court of offenses stemming from the same conduct.⁴⁸ Supreme Court precedent makes clear that the presence of a single biased juror is structural error requiring automatic reversal.⁴⁹

In the alternative, Thomas is entitled to relief under this Court's decision in *Meyer*, because "the average, hypothetical juror could have been affected by th[e] extraneous information, and there is a reasonable probability" this "information affected the verdict." ⁵⁰

3. Thomas is entitled to an evidentiary hearing.

At a minimum, Thomas is entitled to an evidentiary hearing under any of the above legal theories. The declarations submitted with

⁴⁷ Arthur v. Bordenkircher, 715 F.2d 118, 119 (4th Cir. 1983) (internal quotation marks omitted).

⁴⁸ United States v. Keating, 147 F.3d 895, 903 (9th Cir. 1988).

⁴⁹ See, e.g., Parker v. Gladden, 385 U.S. 363, 366 (1966); Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 8 (1999).

⁵⁰ Meyer, 119 Nev. at 572, 80 P.3d at 460-61.

the petition offer uncontroverted proof that jurors considered prejudicial extraneous information directly undermining the reliability of Thomas's death sentences. Thomas therefore supported his claim with specific factual allegations not belied by the record that, if true, entitle him to relief. This is the standard for entitlement to an evidentiary hearing.⁵¹ Thomas can overcome any procedural default of this claim because initial state post-conviction counsel, Bret Whipple, was ineffective for failing to investigate, develop and present this evidence in the initial state post-conviction proceedings.⁵² Whipple never even interviewed the iurors.⁵³

⁵¹ Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 354, 46 P.3d 1228, 1230 (2002).

⁵² See also Section VIII.B.1.a.(1), below.

 $^{^{53}}$ See 16AA3768-3772 at ¶11; 26AA6419-6421 at ¶8; 28AA6779-6785 at ¶16; 28AA6812-6817 at ¶15; 28AA6836-6838 at ¶6.

Should this Court find Whipple was not ineffective because there was nothing in the record to alert him to the possibility of juror misconduct, Thomas is still entitled to relief under the holding in *Williams v. Taylor*, 529 U.S. 420, 442-43 (2000) (petitioner did not fail to develop juror misconduct claim in earlier proceedings where trial record contained no evidence to put reasonable attorney on notice of the misconduct).

Because the district court erred in failing to hold an evidentiary hearing on this claim, this Court should remand with instructions for it to do so now. In *Fullwood v. Lee*, the Fourth Circuit remanded for an evidentiary hearing based on just one juror declaration alleging Fullwood's resentencing jury improperly learned of his prior death sentence. Here, there are five. And subsequent proceedings in Fullwood's case demonstrate the importance of an evidentiary hearing. After the facts were further developed at an evidentiary hearing, the district court granted Fullwood habeas relief and overturned his death sentence. Thomas urges this Court to give him the same opportunity to prove his entitlement to relief.

B. Under the applicable legal standards, Thomas's petition should not have been dismissed.

This Court's precedent makes clear that the district court was required to liberally construe Thomas's petition and accept all his factual allegations as true when reviewing the State's motion to

⁵⁴ Fullwood v. Lee, 290 F.3d 663, 676 (4th Cir. 2002).

⁵⁵ See Fullwood v. Polk, 3:98-CV-00464-GCM, Western District of North Carolina, Charlotte Division, ECF No. 8 at 6-13.

dismiss.⁵⁶ The district court could properly dismiss Thomas's petition only if it appeared "beyond a doubt that [he] could prove no set of facts which . . . would entitle him to relief."⁵⁷

The district court erred in dismissing Thomas's petition without granting discovery and an evidentiary hearing. These proceedings were necessary to establish the factual bases of Thomas's substantive claims and his allegations of good cause to overcome the procedural bars.⁵⁸

District courts in this state have granted discovery and evidentiary hearings for these purposes in other cases involving successive petitions.⁵⁹

⁵⁶ See Thomas v. Nevada Yellow Cab Corp., 130 Nev. __, 327 P.3d 518, 520 (2014); see also Hal Roach Studios, Inc. v. Richard Feiner and Co., Inc., 896 F.2d 1542, 1550 (9th Cir. 1990).

⁵⁷ Dynamic Transit v. Trans Pac. Ventures, 128 Nev. ___, 291 P.3d 114, 117 (2012) (citations omitted).

⁵⁸ See Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 883-87, 34 P.3d 519, 535-37 (2001) (abrogated on other grounds by Rippo v. State, 134 Nev.__, 423 P.3d 1084, 1097 n.12 (2018)); Jones v. Wood, 114 F.3d 1002, 1009 (9th Cir. 1997).

⁵⁹ See 34AA8411.

1. The district court erred in finding Thomas could not overcome the procedural bars.

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