### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MARLO THOMAS,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Sep 23 2019 10:23 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 77345

Respondent.

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

Even assuming Appellant really does suffer from borderline intellectual functioning, <u>Atkins</u> and NRS 174.098 do not support his position. The <u>Atkins</u> Court ruled only that it is cruel and unusual to execute mentally retarded / intellectual disabled defendants—not defendants with any mental illness. Appellant admits that his condition, assuming it exists, is "not as severe as an intellectual disability." AOB

at 58. Thus, Appellant has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he meets the requirements of NRS 174.098: that is, that he has significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning, which exists concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior, and that these conditions were manifested during his developmental period.

Appellant is not ineligible for the death penalty due to age, mental ability, or these factors combined—a position for which Appellant can offer absolutely no authority. His actual innocence claim must fail.

# 3. Appellant's "borderline intellectual functioning" is irrelevant.

For the reasons just discussed, Appellant was not exempt from the death penalty on any grounds, including "borderline intellectual functioning." AOB at 61–63; <u>see</u> Section II(D)(2), *supra*. Accordingly, this independent claim does not serve as good cause.

## 4. Appellant's "functional age" is irrelevant.

Appellant raises his claim of "functional age below 18" for the first time in this appeal. AOB at 63–64; <u>see</u> 3 AA 630–4 AA 885 (Third Petition, lacking any reference to "functional age"). Accordingly, this Court cannot address this independent claim, which cannot serve as good cause. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 93 Nev. 565, 566, 571 P.2d 113, 114 (1977); <u>Allen v. State</u>, 91 Nev. 78, 81–82, 530 P.2d 1195, 1197 (1975).

### III. GUILT-PHASE CLAIMS

Claims 1, 4, 6A, 11, 12, 13, 15, 17, 19, and 28 of Appellant's Third Petition pertain to the guilt phase of trial, which occurred in 1997. As the district court found, all of these claims are untimely under NRS 34.726(1) and successive under NRS 34.810(2). 35 AA 8591–98; see also Section II, *supra*. As discussed, Appellant has failed to establish good cause to overcome the mandatory procedural bars to all of these guilt-phase claims, because only Mr. Schieck's alleged ineffectiveness could serve as good cause for these claims—and any such claims are, at this point, themselves procedurally barred. <u>Id</u>.

At this point, Appellant's substantive guilt-phase claims are waived under NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2), and several are barred under NRS 34.810(2) as having prior determinations on the merits and/or under NRS 34.726(1) as untimely: Claim 1's challenge under <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712 (1986); Claims 4, 6, 11, and 15's allegations of judicial error; Claim 17's allegations of prosecutorial misconduct;<sup>3</sup> and Claim 28's allegation of juror misconduct. Two other claims are procedurally defaulted allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel: Claims 13's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Appellant does not re-raise Claim 12 (sufficiency of the evidence, 3 AA 733–34) (though he briefly mentions it as part of his argument that certain claims are not procedurally barred, <u>see</u> AOB at 202), Claims 23 (unconstitutionality of the death penalty/lethal injection, 4 AA 830–53) or 24 (violation of international law, 4 AA 854–55) in this appeal. Therefore, the State does not address any of these three abandoned claims.

allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel; and Claim 19's allegations of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel.

## A. Claims 1, 4, 6, 11, 15, 17, and 28 – Waived & Procedurally Defaulted

Several of Appellant's claims are barred under NRS 34.810(2), as they have received a prior determination on the merits. Appellant spends thirty pages of his Opening Brief discussing why these claims<sup>4</sup> are not, in fact, barred—claiming in general that they "contain new allegations substantially altering the claims previously presented." AOB at 202. However, as discussed, Appellant cannot avoid the procedural bars via this more detailed argument. <u>See, e.g., Hall</u>, 91 Nev. at 316, 535 P.2d at 798–99. To the extent portions of the substantive guilt-phase claims were not raised in prior proceedings, they have long since been waived by Appellant's failure to raise them on direct appeal. <u>See</u> NRS 34.724(2)(a); NRS 34.810(1)(b); <u>Evans</u>, 117 Nev. at 646–47, 29 P.3d at 523; <u>Franklin v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994), disapproved on other grounds, <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999).

Claim 1 alleges that the State exercised a peremptory challenge in violation of <u>Batson</u>, 476 U.S. at 79, 106 S. Ct. at 1712. AOB at 140–50; <u>see also</u> 3 AA 659– 62. However, as the district court found below, this claim is barred under NRS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In fact, Appellant only addresses claims 1, 4, 6, and 11 in this section. AOB at 202– 32. Accordingly, he has not argued that claims 15 and 17 are not barred under NRS 34.810(2) as having received a prior determination on the merits.

34.810(2), as it received a prior determination on the merits. 35 AA 8594. Indeed, Appellant raised this exact <u>Batson</u> claim on direct appeal from the guilt-phase, and this Court ultimately rejected the claim, concluding that "the district court did not abuse its discretion and, therefore, did not err by permitting the peremptory challenge." <u>Thomas I</u>, 114 Nev. at 1137, 967 P.2d at 1118. Appellant attempts to use new case law, and counsel's alleged ineffectiveness in failure to correctly apply the law, to argue that this decision should be revisited. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 134 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 429 P.3d 301 (2018). However, Appellant cannot avoid the procedural bars via this more detailed argument. <u>See Hall</u>, 91 Nev. at 316, 535 P.2d at 798–99.

Claim 4 alleges the guilt-phase jury instructions were erroneous. AOB at 203– 15; see also 3 AA 678–89. However, as the district court found below, this claim is barred under NRS 34.810(2), as it received a prior determination on the merits. 35 AA 8594. Indeed, Appellant raised the exact same jury instruction arguments in his direct appeal. This Court found that "no plain or patently prejudicial errors exist." <u>Thomas I</u>, 114 Nev. at 1149, n. 5, 967 P.2d at 1125, n.5. Appellant provides absolutely no authority for his assertion that this claim should now be re-reviewed under a de novo standard. AOB at 204.

Claim 6 alleges a Confrontation Clause violation during the guilt-phase. AOB at 220–28. However, as the district court found below, this claim is barred under NRS 34.810(2), as it received a prior determination on the merits. 35 AA 8594.

Indeed, Appellant raised the same confrontation issue on direct appeal. This Court rejected the claim, concluding, "the district court did not err by admitting Hall's preliminary hearing testimony because Hall was 'unavailable."" <u>Thomas I</u>, 114 Nev. at 1137, 967 P.2d at 1118.

Claim 11 alleges error in that Appellant was convicted by a death-qualified jury. AOB at 230–32; <u>see also</u> 3 AA 731–32. However, as the district court found below, this claim is barred under NRS 34.810(2), as it received a prior determination on the merits. 35 AA 8594. Indeed, Appellant raised these exact death-qualified-jury arguments on direct appeal. This Court rejected the claim, concluding, "no plain or patently prejudicial errors exist." <u>Thomas I</u>, 114 Nev. at 1149, n. 5, 967 P.2d at 1125, n.5. Appellant provides absolutely no authority for his assertion that this claim should now be re-reviewed under a de novo standard. AOB at 232.

Claim 15 alleges the district court erred in failing to declare a mistrial, in admitting "gruesome" photographs and an autopsy diagram, and in "signaling approval" of a State's witness. AOB at 183–87; see also 4 AA 805–07. However, as the district court found below, this claim is barred under NRS 34.810(2), as it received a prior determination on the merits. 35 AA 8596. Indeed, Appellant raised these claims of trial court error on direct appeal, and this Court ultimately rejected the arguments, concluding that "the district court did not err by admitting autopsy photographs of the victims, Gianakis and Dixon... by admitting an enlarged version

of a previously admitted diagram depicting Dixon's body . . .[or] by denying Thomas' motion for a mistrial after Nash inadvertently testified that Thomas had been to jail." <u>Thomas I</u>, 114 Nev. at 1140–42, 967 P.2d at 1120–21.

Claim 17 alleges prosecutorial misconduct during argument in the guilt-phase of trial. AOB at 175–81; <u>see also</u> 4 AA 810–12. However, as the district court found below, this claim is barred under NRS 34.810(2), as it received a prior determination on the merits. 35 AA 8596. Indeed, Appellant raised these claims of trial court error on direct appeal, and this Court found that "no plain or patently prejudicial errors exist." <u>Id</u>. at 1149, n. 5, 967 P.2d at 1125, n.5. Appellant does not even try to offer a more detailed argument on appeal—and even if he had, he cannot avoid the procedural bars via this more detailed argument. <u>See Hall</u>, 91 Nev. at 316, 535 P.2d at 798–99.

Appellant alleges some parts of these claims were not previously raised—for example, Claims 15(D), the trial court's "approval" of a state witness, and Claim 28, alleging juror Joseph Hannigan was dishonest during voir dire and that he and juror Sharyn Brown were biased against Appellant. AOB at 64–85, 185–86; <u>see also</u> 4 AA 875–82. To the extent this is true, Appellant has long-since waived any substantive claims by his failure to raise them on direct appeal. <u>See</u> NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2); <u>Franklin</u>, 110 Nev. at 752, 877 P.2d at 1059. As the district court found below, these claims are also procedurally barred. 35 AA 8595–96. Indeed, any claim that trial counsel was ineffective for raising these claims could have been raised during the first habeas petition after the guilt phase. However, Appellant failed to raise these claims at either point.

Appellant seems to contend that there is good cause to excuse the waiver and procedural defaults for these claims in that Mr. Whipple was ineffective for not investigating and presenting them. However, as discussed *supra*, Mr. Whipple's alleged ineffectiveness cannot serve as good cause for any of the guilt-phase claims. It was for that reason that despite the additional documents Appellant attached to his Third Petition—including affidavits and declarations concerning Jurors Hannigan and Brown—the district court found it could not reach the merits of Claim 28, which is waived and procedurally barred. 29AA7140-53; 30 AA 7453-55; 35 AA 8595-98. As the district court did below, this Court should find that Appellant's claims of trial court error and juror misconduct and bias consists of allegations that are waived under NRS 34.810(2) and that any claims that guilt-phase and direct-appeal counsel were ineffective for failure to raise them are procedurally barred under NRS 34.726 and NRS 34.810(1).

Thus, this Court should find that all seven of these claims are procedurally barred and that any "new" arguments within these claims are both substantively waived and insufficient to overcome the procedural bars.

///

### B. <u>Claims 13 and 19 – Procedurally Barred</u>

Claim 13 alleges multiple instances of ineffective assistance of guilt-phase counsel. AOB at 82–86, 124–37; <u>see also</u> 3 AA 739–50, 4 AA 751–68. Claim 19 alleges ineffective assistance of direct-appeal counsel. AOB at 200–01; <u>see also</u> 4 AA 817–18.

All allegations of ineffective assistance of trial and direct-appeal counsel should have been raised in Appellant's First Petition—and indeed, Mr. Schieck did raise many such allegations in that prior petition.<sup>5</sup> 5 AA 1065–1142; see also Thomas II, 120 Nev. at 37, 83 P.3d at 818. As the district court found below, any claims of both trial and direct-appeal counsels' ineffectiveness are "procedurally time barred;" they "were available during the timeframe in which [Appellant's] first Writ of Habeas Corpus Petition was filed. Therefore [Appellant] should have raised these issues in [his] first Writ of Habeas Corpus. Because [Appellant] has not proven that good cause exists to overcome such waiver," the district court denied relief as to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Any complaints about guilt-phase counsel in terms of their assistance during Appellant's first penalty trial are utterly irrelevant. <u>See, e.g.</u>, AOB at 129–31. Appellant's death sentences resulting from that first penalty trial were overturned by this Court. Though Appellant seems to argue that some of guilt-phase counsel's alleged ineffectiveness "denied him a defense to first-degree murder," those allegations all relate to Appellant's mental health—and because Appellant has never argued that he could have pleaded not guilty by reason of insanity, or guilty but mentally ill, such information would have been irrelevant during the guilt-phase. AOB at 27–43, 131–37. Thus, Appellant could never demonstrate prejudice as to these claims.

both claims. 35 AA 8595–96. Appellant's attempt at forcing an inception-style reexamination of these claims (i.e. to the extent he alleges there is good cause to review this claim because Mr. Whipple was ineffective for raising Mr. Schieck's alleged ineffectiveness in not raising trial/-direct-appeal-counsel's ineffectiveness) is unavailing. This Court should find that these claims are procedurally barred.

#### IV. PENALTY-PHASE CLAIMS

Claims 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 14, 16, 18, 20, 25, and 26 of Appellant's Third Petition pertain to the penalty retrial, which occurred in 2004. As the district court found, these claims are untimely under NRS 34.726(1) and successive under NRS 34.810(2). 35 AA 8591–98; <u>see also</u> Section II, *supra*. As discussed, *supra*, Appellant fails to establish a miscarriage of justice sufficient to show good cause for raising penalty-phase claims. <u>See</u> Section II(D)(2).

To the extent Appellant alleges Mr. Whipple was ineffective for failure to raise any of these penalty-phase issues in the Second Petition, any such ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claims may be timely asserted. As discussed, Mr. Whipple is Appellant's first post-conviction counsel after the penalty retrial. And because this Court issued its remittitur in its decision affirming the district court's denial of the Second Petition on October 20, 2016, the Third petition, which was filed on October 20, 2017, contained timely ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claims against Mr. Whipple—at least insofar as that rule in <u>Rippo</u> remains. 26 AA 6274–76.

Nonetheless, Appellant has failed to establish that he received ineffective assistance of counsel from Mr. Whipple regarding these claims. Thus, because his other assertion of good cause—miscarriage of justice—is without merit, Appellant has necessarily failed to establish the good cause needed to overcome the procedural bars under NRS 34.726(1)(a), NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2), and NRS 34.810(2). An individual examination of each claim will reveal that Mr. Whipple was not deficient regarding these claims and that there was no prejudice.

#### A. <u>Claim 2 – Security Measures</u>

Claim 2 alleges "excessive security measures" during the penalty retrial, including shackling of himself and of witnesses. AOB at 164–72; <u>see also</u> 3 AA 663–67. As the district court found below, this claim is meritless for several reasons. 35 AA 8596. The substantive claim is waived under NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2). <u>See Franklin</u>, 110 Nev. at 752, 877 P.2d at 1059. These allegations could have been raised on direct appeal from the penalty retrial. The claim is also procedurally barred, as any claim that counsel was ineffective for challenging the measures could have been raised during the first habeas petition after the penalty retrial. However, Appellant failed to raise this claim at either point. Appellant fails to provide good cause for not bringing this claim at an earlier time. <u>See</u> Section II(D)(1), *supra*. Further, the claim is meritless. Thus, there was no prejudice in denying this claim.

As an initial matter, Mr. Whipple's ineffectiveness could never serve as good cause for this claim because he did, in fact, present this substantive claim (albeit not an allegation that Mr. Schieck was ineffective for not challenging the shackling issue) during the Second Petition; the district court denied the substance of the claim as waived and lacking good cause. 7 AA 1502–03.

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